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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY; 
WILD FISH CONSERVANCY, 
 
                           Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY; 
DONALD C. WINTER, in his official 
capacity as Secretary of the Navy; U.S. 
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE; H. 
DALE HALL, in his official capacity as the 
Director or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service; NATIONAL MARINE 
FISHERIES SERVICE; CARLOS M. 
GUTIERREZ, in his official capacity as the 
Secretary of Commerce, 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Public Employees for Environmental Responsibility (“PEER”) and Wild Fish 

Conservancy (“Wild Fish”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) bring this action under the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 500 et seq. (“APA”), which provides federal judicial review for any 

person “suffering legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected or aggrieved by 

agency action within the meaning of a relevant statute.”  5 U.S.C. § 702.  Plaintiffs are adversely 

affected by Defendant United States Department of the Navy’s (“Navy”) failure to comply with 

the requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq. 

(“NEPA”), and Defendants U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service’s (“FWS”) and U.S. National Marine 

Fisheries Service’s (“NMFS”) (collectively, “the Services”) failure to comply with the 

requirements of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 et seq. (“ESA”). 

2. Plaintiffs bring this action for declaratory and injunctive relief to require the Navy 

to comply with NEPA, and to enjoin the Navy from continuing to engage in Explosive Ordnance 

Disposal (“EOD”) training operations in Puget Sound until it comes into compliance with NEPA 

by producing adequate environmental reviews and/or institutes mitigation measures to 

sufficiently reduce or eliminate the environmental impacts of its EOD training operations. NEPA 

requires a federal agency to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) for all “major 

federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment,” prior to 

undertaking such actions.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).   

3. Specifically and upon our best belief and information, for years the Navy has been 

conducting three (3) to five (5) EOD training operations per month in Puget Sound at three 

locations:  Hood Canal, Port Townsend, and Crescent Harbor.  Each training session requires the 

detonation of a varying amount of powerful explosives in the marine environment, resulting in 
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substantial fish kills and other impacts to the marine environment.  The Navy’s EOD training 

operations have continued without issuance of an EIS or a Finding of No Significant Impact 

(“FONSI”), in direct violation of NEPA. 

4. Plaintiffs also bring this action to compel the Services to complete their 

consulting requirements and issue final Biological Opinions (“BiOp”) under the ESA.  The ESA 

charges federal agencies with the responsibility of consulting with one or both of the Services to 

determine whether any action may affect threatened or endangered species or their habitats.  16 

U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  Consultation concludes with the Services’ issuance of a comprehensive 

BiOp.  Pursuant to the ESA, consultation and the issuance of BiOps are nondiscretionary duties 

of the Services.  

5. Several threatened and endangered species are found in the EOD training areas, 

including bull trout, chinook salmon, chum salmon, orcas, and marbled murrelets.  The Services 

have consulted with the Navy on the EOD training operations for over four (4) years without 

issuing a final BiOp, thereby unlawfully withholding or unreasonably delaying agency action 

under the APA.  5 U.S.C. § 706.  The ESA’s implementing regulations require the Services to 

provide a BiOp as the final step when consulting with an action agency taking any action that 

may affect threatened or endangered species or their habitats.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (2008).  

This Court has jurisdiction over claims of federal actions in violation of NEPA.  42 U.S.C. § 

4332(C).  The several United States District Courts have jurisdiction over all claims arising from 

the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) (2008).  This Court also has federal question jurisdiction under 
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the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 555(b), 702 and 706(1).  Declaratory relief is authorized by the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (2008). 

7. Venue is proper in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because the EOD 

training sites are located in this judicial district and the events giving rise to the claims happened 

and continue to happen in this district.  

III. PARTIES  

8. Plaintiff PEER is a national non-profit organization based in Washington, D.C. 

with field offices nationwide, including California and the continental Southwest.  PEER works 

with local, state, and federal resource professionals to monitor, advocate, and uphold the 

environmental laws of the United States.  PEER members reside in the State of Washington, and 

rely on Puget Sound waterways and adjacent land masses for recreational, aesthetic, and 

economic benefits.   

9. PEER members are harmed by the environmental damage and potential harm to 

endangered species that is occurring because of the Navy’s conduct of EOD training operations 

in Puget Sound without compliance with NEPA and the ESA.  PEER and its members are also 

unable to acquire basic information necessary to determine health and environmental risks 

associated with EOD training operations while Defendants fail to fulfill federally mandated 

environmental and endangered species assessment duties.  The Navy’s failure to comply with 

NEPA has also deprived PEER and its members of the opportunity to provide comments on this 

major federal action.  These are all real and cognizable injuries. 

10. Plaintiff Wild Fish is a non-profit organization headquartered in Duvall, 

Washington, which researches and educates the public on the recovery and conservation of 

regional wild fish ecosystems.  Its mission is to study wild fish populations and habitats and 
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transform that knowledge into model restoration projects and better land-use, harvest, and 

hatchery management.  The staff and Board of Wild Fish is comprised of scientists, natural-

resource managers, educators, business people, and activists who are often consulted for their 

technical expertise in wild fish ecology.  Wild Fish conducts field-based education programs for 

students and community members in surrounding areas to increase awareness of and appreciation 

for the natural environment.  These programs take place in areas such as the Snoqualmie Valley 

in King County, and Barn Beach Reserve in Leavenworth’s Cascade Mountains territory.  King 

County directly borders Puget Sound waters, and the Cascade Mountain watersheds feed the 

region with seasonal freshwater. 

11. Wild Fish members rely on Puget Sound for scientific, recreational, aesthetic, and 

economic benefits.  These benefits are undermined by Defendants’ prolonged and ongoing EOD 

training operations, which significantly affect the environment through damage to the nation’s 

second largest estuary and specifically result in harm to wild fish populations, taken without 

compliance with the ESA and NEPA.  Wild Fish and its members are also deprived of 

information necessary to determine health and environmental risks associated with EOD training 

operations due to Defendants failure to fulfill federally mandated environmental and endangered 

species assessment duties.  The Navy’s failure to comply with NEPA has also deprived Wild 

Fish and its members of the opportunity to provide comments on this major federal action.  

These are all real and cognizable injuries. 

12. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf ofCC their members adversely affected by EOD 

training operations and on their own behalf as organizations whose interests and organizational 

purposes are adversely affected by Defendants’ continuation of EOD training operations without 

compliance with environmental laws implicated by the Navy’s EOD training operations.  This 
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complaint is filed to compel Defendants to comply with the legally binding duties required by 

NEPA and the ESA.  The processes required under these laws provide PEER, Wild Fish, their 

members, and the public with vital information about the effects of government actions on the 

environment and specifically with regard to threatened and endangered species. The reviews 

mandated by NEPA and the ESA are intended and needed to inform federal agency decision-

making concerning actions affecting the environment and threatened and endangered species.  

NEPA and the ESA require review and consideration of effects on the environment and on 

endangered species before a federal action is initiated.  NEPA also provides for public comment 

on proposed major federal actions and the potential impacts from such actions. 

13. The adverse impacts on Plaintiffs and their members are redressable by 

Defendants’ fulfillment of their NEPA and ESA obligations.  Enjoining EOD training operations, 

pending publication of an EIS by the Navy and issuance of a BiOp by the Services or mitigation 

of the EOD training operations to the point where there is no significant impact on the 

environment or adverse effect on endangered species, would redress Plaintiffs’ and their 

members’ injuries by protecting their use and enjoyment of Puget Sound and preventing further 

unnecessary damage to the environment and the Nation’s natural resources by insuring that the 

reviews intended to inform agency decision-making mandated by these statutes are carried out. 

14. Defendant U.S. Department of the Navy is an agency of the executive branch of 

the United States Government.  Defendant, the Honorable Donald C. Winter, is Secretary, U.S. 

Department of the Navy.  As Secretary, Defendant Winter has ultimate responsibility for the 

activities of the U.S. Department of the Navy, including those actions complained of herein. 

15. Defendant U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service is an agency of the executive branch of 

the United States Government and a sub-agency of the United States Department of Interior.  
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Defendant H. Dale Hall is Director, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  As Director, Defendant Hall 

has ultimate responsibility for the activities of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, including 

those actions complained of herein. 

16. Defendant National Marine Fisheries Service is an agency of the executive branch 

of the United States Government and a sub-agency of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 

Administration, which is a sub-agency of the United States Department of Commerce.  

Defendant Carlos M. Gutierrez is Secretary, U.S. Department of Commerce.  As Secretary, 

Defendant Gutierrez has ultimate responsibility for the activities of the U.S. National Marine 

Fisheries Service, including those actions complained of herein. 

IV. FACTS 

17. Puget Sound is a biologically rich estuary that is home to many endangered and 

threatened species. 

18. The Navy conducts EOD training operations in Puget Sound at three locations:  

Crescent Harbor (near the Whidbey Island seaplane base); Hood Canal (near the Bangor naval 

submarine base); and Port Townsend Bay (near the Naval Magazine, Indian Island). 

19. EOD training operations are designed to train and certify divers to dispose of 

underwater explosives.  The training consists of using explosive charges to destroy or disable 

inert (dummy) mines.  The technicians must locate the dummy mine, place the charge, detonate 

it, retrieve the debris, and inspect the site. 

20. The EOD training operations entail as many as three (3) to five (5) exercises per 

month.  EOD technicians must re-qualify every month in the preparation, placement, and 

detonation of underwater explosive materials.  They use charges ranging in size from 2.5 to 20 

pounds. 
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21. NEPA requires a federal agency to prepare an EIS for all “major federal actions 

significantly affecting the quality of the human environment,” prior to undertaking such actions.  

42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).  The Navy is a federal agency for NEPA purposes.  The Navy does not 

dispute that the EOD training operations are a major federal action that significantly affects the 

environment.   

22. As of this date, the Navy has not issued an EIS for the EOD training operations.   

23. The EOD training operations may harm some species listed under the ESA as 

endangered or threatened, including chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha), Hood Canal 

summer-run chum salmon (Oncorhynchus keta), bald eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus), marbled 

murrelets (Brachyramphus marmoratus), Stellar sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus), humpback 

whales (Megaptera novaeangliae), bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus), and orca whales (Orcinus 

orca). 

24. On January 8, 2001, the Navy sent a letter in conjunction with a Biological 

Assessment (“BA”) to FWS and NMFS requesting informal consultation under the ESA.  The 

BA concluded that the training may affect, but was not likely to adversely affect the above-listed 

species, although it did not consider effects on then-unlisted orcas. 

25. The Services did not concur with the BA’s determination, and unambiguously 

disputed the Navy’s “not likely to adversely affect” conclusion as to chinook and chum salmon 

and bull trout in a letter dated April 18, 2002.  Exhibit 1, April 18, 2002 Letter.  The Services 

stated that they would analyze potential effects on the other species included in the BA when the 

Navy had provided all requested information. 

26. During a field demonstration of a five-pound charge in 2002, the Services 

observed approximately 1000 dead fish on the surface of the water after the blast.  Although 
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most of the dead fish were surf smelt ( UHypomesus U UpretiosusU) rather than any listed species, they 

appeared to have died from ruptures of their swim bladders.  Salmon and bull trout also have 

swim bladders and the Services concluded that they “may be similarly killed by underwater 

detonations.”  Exhibit 1, April 18, 2002 Letter at 2. 

27. Scientific literature indicates that less than 20% of the dead fish would typically 

rise to the surface; therefore the Services concluded that the actual number of fish killed may 

have been greater than 5000.  Because the EOD training operations occurred three (3) to five (5) 

times per month, and sometimes involved the use of 20-pound charges, the Services reasoned 

that the number of fish killed per month “may be quite large.”  Exhibit 1, April 18, 2002 Letter 

at 2. 

28. The Services concluded that the “proposed action has the potential to adversely 

affect” chinook and chum salmon and bull trout because it was highly likely that the EOD 

training operations caused “direct mortality” of these listed species in addition to definitively 

causing “significant mortality” of their prey species.  Exhibit 1, April 18, 2002 Letter at 1.  This 

is tantamount to the Services determining that the EOD training operations resulted in a 

significant likelihood of “takings” (as defined by section 3(19) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 

1532(19)).   

29. The Services proposed several possible mitigation measures, including 

conducting the explosions in a lake or rock quarry or in the open ocean; lifting the mine nearer to 

the surface and surrounding it with a bubble curtain; digging a permanent pit to contain most of 

the blast energy; restoring nearby habitat; conducting monitoring studies; and limiting explosions 

to avoid times when listed fish are likely to be present.  The Services proposed these strategies be 

effective for three years while environmental studies were completed. 
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30. Although the Services characterized the EOD training operations as a “proposed 

action” in the April 18, 2002 letter, the Navy had already been conducting EOD operations for 

some time and has continued to do so throughout consultation with the Services.  See Exhibit 1, 

April 18, 2002 Letter at 1. 

31. In July 2002, the Navy rejected most of the proposed mitigation measures as 

infeasible or as inconsistent with the training objectives.  

32. The Navy agreed to some seasonal restrictions on charge sizes during salmon and 

bull trout juvenile migration and also agreed to look for marine mammals for thirty minutes 

before explosions and delay detonation if any were spotted.  The Navy also indicated a 

willingness to monitor mortalities caused by the training operations and to carry out restoration 

projects, provided that funding could be obtained from other sources. 

33. The Navy has implemented some of the agreed-upon mitigation measures in 

ensuing years, but Plaintiffs do not know exactly which measures were implemented and to what 

degree.  Plaintiffs also do not know the effect any implemented mitigation measures may have 

had on the environmental impacts of EOD operations.   

34. The Services informed the Navy on March 30, 2004 that the Navy had provided 

the information necessary to initiate formal consultation under ESA Section 7 and that the 

Services would prepare a BiOp.  Exhibit 2, March 30, 2004 Letter.  The consultation and BiOp 

concerned: threatened Puget Sound chinook salmon under NMFS jurisdiction; threatened Hood 

Canal summer-run chum salmon under NMFS jurisdiction; threatened bull trout under FWS 

jurisdiction; threatened marbled murrelets under FWS jurisdiction; threatened Stellar sea-lions 

under NMFS jurisdiction; endangered humpback whales under NMFS jurisdiction; and 

recovered bald eagles under FWS jurisdiction. 
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35. In the March 30, 2004 letter, the Services cited ESA Section 7’s timelines of 90 

days to conclude formal consultation and 45 days to prepare the BiOp, but then stated that 

“based on the extensive coordination and cooperation with the Navy on this project, the Services 

expect to complete the biological opinion before the 135 day time frame.”  Exhibit 2, March 30, 

2004 Letter at 2.  The Services also reminded the Navy that following the initiation of formal 

consultation, the ESA required that the Navy abstain from any “irretrievable commitment of 

resources.”  Id.  

36.   Since initiation of formal consultation on March 30, 2004, the Services have 

engaged in negotiations with the Navy regarding the scope of the EOD operations which would 

be the subject of the BiOp.  Formal consultation has extended well beyond the 135 days listed in 

the ESA and cited by the Services in the March 30, 2004 letter.   

37. Both the Navy and outside consultants have monitored EOD operations at various 

times during the several years since initiation of formal consultation.  Plaintiffs lack information 

about the specific type and results of those monitoring activities.    

38. The Navy threatened to remove its Puget Sound BA from ESA consultation in 

two separate conference calls on August 20, 2007.  The first call was between Navy biologists, 

the Whidbey Island Environmental Affairs Department, and Bob Donnelly of NMFS; the second 

call was between Navy biologists, the Whidbey Island Environmental Affairs Department, and 

John Grettenberger of FWS.  The Navy stated that if a draft BiOp was not delivered by the end 

of September 2007, as NMFS had indicated it would be, the Navy would instead include EOD 

training operations in an EIS for the Northwest Training Range Complex (“NWTRC”). 

39. At some point in late 2007, the Services decided to prepare separate BiOps rather 

than the long-planned joint BiOp.   



 

COMPLAINT - 12 Smith & Lowney, p.l.l.c. 
2317 East John Street 

Seattle, Washington 98112 
(206) 860-2883 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

40. PEER has learned that NMFS completed its own draft BiOp in December of 

2007.   This draft BiOp has not been made public and NMFS has not issued a final BiOp as of 

this date. 

41. FWS has not completed any form of BiOp as of this date because it harbors 

ongoing concerns about significant impacts to species within its jurisdiction, bull trout and 

marbled murrelets.  FWS continues negotiations with the Navy regarding the scope of its EOD 

training operations.   

42. An Incidental Take Statement (“ITS”) sets forth reasonable and prudent measures 

to minimize the impact of incidental takes of endangered species, and includes mandatory terms 

and conditions implementing those measures.  16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(b)(4)(ii) and (iii) (2008). 

43. If the Services conclude in a BiOp that an action is not likely to jeopardize the 

continued existence of any ESA listed species, or that reasonable and prudent alternatives to the 

action are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any ESA listed species, an ITS must 

be included within the BiOp.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i) (2008). 

44. Because the Services have not issued a BiOp or an ITS, the Navy, on information 

and belief, has and will continue to violate the ESA for “taking” ESA listed species in 

connection with its EOD training operations.  16 U.S.C. § 1538. 

V. CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I. The Navy’s Failure to Comply with NEPA 

45. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference preceding paragraphs 1-3, 6-7, and 17-38. 

46. NEPA sets forth substantive environmental quality goals for the government and 

the nation.  See 42 U.S.C. § 4331.  All agencies of the U.S. government are required to include 
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an EIS for every “recommendation or report on proposals for legislation and other major federal 

actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.”  42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). 

47. EOD training operations in Puget Sound are major federal actions.  The Navy has 

complete power and discretion to fund and conduct these routine detonations. 

48. Explosive charges are per se ultra-hazardous activities, patently modifying or 

degrading the environment.  EOD training operations have been documented to cause significant 

harm and death to aquatic species in Puget Sound.  This adverse effect is substantiated by the 

Services in, among other things, their joint rejection of the “not likely to adversely affect” listed 

species conclusion in the Navy’s Biological Assessment.  The blasts have been found as the 

proximate cause of thousands of fish mortalities per detonation depending on the size of the 

charge. 

49. EOD training operations are the subject of public controversy, involving uncertain 

and significant environmental risks affecting the human environment.  Such actions require the 

production of an EIS to comply with NEPA.  The Navy has not prepared an EIS yet it continues 

to conduct EOD training operations in violation of Section 102(2)(C) of NEPA, 42 U.S.C.§ 

4332(2)(C). 

50. An EIS is required in the initial decisionmaking process before a major federal 

action is undertaken and before any irreversible or irretrievable commitments of resources. 

51. The Navy continues to violate NEPA by conducting its EOD training operations 

in Puget Sound without producing a full assessment of environmental impacts as required at 

section 102(2)(C) of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). 

52. Section 102(2)(E) of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(E) requires all agencies of the 

U.S. government study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to the recommended 
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courses of action in any proposal which involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses 

of available resources. 

53. There are unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources 

implicated by the Navy’s EOD training operations, including but not limited to whether Puget 

Sound should be preserved to provide habitable conditions for fish and wildlife, including 

species protected under the ESA, or whether the Navy has carte blanche to use the Sound as 

military training grounds.   

54. On information and belief, the Navy has not prepared the alternatives analysis 

required by Section 102(2)(E) of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(E), and is therefore in violation of 

NEPA. 

Count II. The Services Unlawfully Withheld and Unreasonably Delayed Agency Action 

55. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference preceding paragraphs 1, 4-7, 17-20, and 23-44. 

56. The Services have a duty to conclude matters presented to them within a 

reasonable time.  5 U.S.C. § 555(b). 

57. The APA authorizes this Court to compel agency action that is “unlawfully 

withheld or unreasonably delayed.”  5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

58. The ESA directs the Secretaries of the Interior and Commerce to conclude 

consultation with respect to agency actions’ effects on threatened and endangered species and 

their habitats within 90 days from initiation, although consultation can be extended to a date 

agreed to by both the Secretaries and the Navy.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(1)(A).   

59. The Services informed the Navy on March 30, 2004 that the ESA provided for a 

90-day formal consultation period followed by a 45-day period in which to prepare the BiOp, but 
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the Services insisted that they expected to complete the BiOp before the 135 days expired.  

Exhibit 2, March 30, 2004 Letter at 2. 

60. More than 1,600 days have passed since initiation of formal consultation, and 

there is still no final comprehensive BiOp issued by the Services, jointly or separately, regarding 

the Navy’s EOD training operations in Puget Sound.  

61. The Services’ failure to produce a BiOp within a remotely reasonable amount of 

time is confounding, especially given the Services’ own assurances of a short turnaround based 

on the extensive coordination and cooperation that had already occurred between the Services 

and the Navy prior to initiating formal consultation in March 2004.  The Services’ conduct 

constitutes agency action unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed under the APA. 

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray that the Court grant the following relief: 

62. Issue a declaratory judgment that the Navy has violated NEPA by failing to 

prepare an EIS and an alternatives analysis, or otherwise comply with NEPA concerning its EOD 

training operations in Puget Sound. 

63. Issue an injunction prohibiting further Navy EOD training operations, or order 

significant interim protective measures to prevent harm to threatened and endangered species and 

their critical habitat, until the Navy satisfactorily fulfills its statutory obligations under NEPA. 

64. Issue a declaratory judgment that the Services have violated the APA by 

unlawfully withholding and unreasonably delaying action in failing to complete consultation 

under the ESA and issue final comprehensive BiOps concerning the Navy’s EOD training 

operations in Puget Sound. 


